

  

    

      

    

  




  

    A. J Sowell


  




  Rangers and Pioneers of Texas




  

    e-artnow, 2022


    Contact: info@e-artnow.org

  




  

    EAN: 4066338126801

  




  Preface.




  

    Table of Contents


  




  In the following-pages the Author has attempted to recite a part of what is as yet the unwritten history of the country. Many brave and heroic men have lived and died, and did their country glorious service upon the frontiers of Texas, whose names have as yet found no place in history. They were the men who cut the brush and blazed the way for immigration, and drove the wild beast and the red man from the path of civilization. They bore the heat and burden of the day, and their deeds should live, like monuments, in the hearts of their countrymen. Where commerce now holds its prosperous marts was then the camping ground and rendezvous of these rangers and pioneers. The incidents of history herein contained have been gathered from sources most reliable, and he that peruses this volume may feel assured that he is not reading fiction, but facts which form part of the history of Texas. If this volume serves the purpose for which it is written, i. e. that the names and deeds of these good and brave men may not be forgotten, and the writer occupy one fresh green spot in the folds of their memory, he will not think his labor has been in vain.
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    “I hear the tread of pioneers,


    Of nations jet to be;


    The first low wash of waves, where soon


    Shall roll a human sea."




    Whittier.


  




  INTRODUCTION-INDIAN RAIDS IN NACOGDOCHES COUNTY-HUTCHINSON FAMILY DEATH OF CAPT. DENTON-CHASED BY INDIANS DEATH OF CALAHAN-SETTLING FANNIN COUNTY-A SAD MISTAKE-TREACHERY OF A MEXICAN.




  When the white settlers of Texas, composing Austin's and De Witt's colonies, first began to erect their cabin in this wild and beautiful country, all the Indian tribes were friendly. The Comanches were the most numerous numbering several thousand warriors. Hostilities commenced by thieving parties of Indians stealing horses from the whites ; and, when caught by the exasperated settlers, were roughly handled: in fact, there was not much law in the country in those days regulating the punishment for such offenses, and the unfortunate red man caught under such circumstances was generally shot on the spot. White horse thieves were served the same way, or strung up to the limb of a tree.




  The consequence of these severe measures was that all the tribes (then numbering twenty or more) sooner or later became hostile, with the exception, perhaps, of the Tankaways, who always lived on good terms with the whites, and were very useful in scouting and trailing hostile bands when they made incursions into the settlements, and some of them went with Taylor's army to Mexico.




  From the time the Indians became hostile, almost up to the present time (1883), every settler who pitched his cabin in the West, from the coast to the Staked Plains, had to contend with hostile Indians, and if all the incidents were related, connected with these settlements, of Indian battles, adventures of the settlers, massacres, etc. which occurred while these settlements gradually extended out towards the Rio Grande (Big River), which was the boundary line between Texas and Mexico in the West, it would fill a volume ten times the size of the one I contemplate writing. My object is to give as many of such incidents as the size of this work will admit, and try to convey a correct idea of what the brave men and women of that period had to contend with in settling this fair land of Texas and paving the way for capital, railroads and more immigrants. Being myself raised in Texas, and spending some time on the frontier, I have, from time to time, collected such incidents as I thought worth relating and which would be interesting to the reading public, as Indian battles, massacres, and scalp dances are now a thing of the past in Texas.




  In commencing this little work, I will relate a few incidents which occurred as the settlers gradually pushed out into the unsettled wilds of the West; then, under the head of




  Incidents in the Life of an Old Texan, I will bring in other scraps of unwritten history which I wish to relate in memory of those veterans, who have now nearly all passed away, and who did deeds, worthy the pen of our best historians. I will close with an account of the campaign of the Texas rangers to the Wichita mountains in 1871. In that I will give some account of the settling of that part of the state ; that is, the Indian troubles mostly. One thing which greatly bothers me in collecting these incidents, is being deficient in dates, which is very necessary, but which sometimes have to be omitted ; but I will try to give the facts as near as I can, as they were related to me by the old pioneers. For instance, one will be relating some incident, with which he was connected or was acquainted, and you will ask, "' When did that occur? " " Well," he will say, '' I do not recollect exactly, but I think it was in the fall or winter or spring of so and so;" and, of course, there are likely to be some errors of this kind.




  I will commence this part of the work by relating an incident which occurred in Nacogdoches County, which I learned from an old Texan, named Baily, who was well acquainted with the parties concerned in this horrible deed of savage cruelty. In the early settlement of this county, in the eastern part of the State, a family, named Hutchinson, settled between the Neches and Trinity rivers, near Fort Houston. The family consisted of the old man, his wife, and daughter, Anna. They lived in peace and quiet for some time, with plenty around them to live on comfortably, but in 1838 the Indians, then being hostile, began committing depredations between the two rivers, and armed bands of men began scouring the country in order to ran them out. Late one evening nine armed settlers came to the house of old man Hutchinson stating that they were out after Indians and would like to spend the night with him and go on up the country next morning, where they were to meet another party who were also scouting-. The old man cordially invited them to dismount and come in ; their horses were attended to, and the old lady and her daughter prepared supper.




  When supper was announced, the men went back into the shed room, on the North side of the cabin, where the meal was spread, and took their seats at the table leavin’ their guns standing in the corner near an open door which fronted to the South. The meal was not more than half over, when, hearing a slight noise in the direction of the South door, they looked and saw three hideously painted Indians between them and their guns. Not knowing how many more there were close at hand, they all sprang from the table and escaped through an east door in the shed loom, the old man Hutchinson among the balance, thinking, of course, I suppose, that the women would follow, but such was not the case.




  The brave old lady seized a heavy iron shovel, and dashing into the house, commenced a most furious attack upon the Indians, and succeeded in beating one of them to the floor before she was tomahawked. Anna also procured a weapon of some kind, and came to the assistance of her mother, but she was also struck on the head and fell to the floor, apparently lifeless. The savages not satisfied with this, then cut out her left breast, and left her lying on the floor in this horrible condition. They then brought some lard out of the kitchen, and emptying it in one corner of the house, set fire to it and then left, carrying some of the guns with them. Before the fire spread much, Anna returned to consciousness, and barely made her escape from the burning building. Her mother's body was consumed.




  The girl wandered about in a dazed sort of way until morning, and succeeded in getting about two miles from the house, and being overcome with fatigue and pain, could go no further, and sank almost fainting to the ground. In this condition she was found by three rangers and carried to the nearest house, and by close and careful attention, finally recovered. It is likely the men, had they known there were but three Indians to deal with, would have rushed in and overpowered them; but be this as it may, the women were the bravest, for they remained and fought them. The Indians succeeded in eluding the search, which was made for them, and escaped out of the country.




  In 1840-42 the Indians were very troublesome along the Trinity and Brazos rivers. Captain Denton raised a company of forty men, and set out in pursuit of a large band, which had been depredating and were going back. They struck the trail on the Sulphur Fork of the Brazos, and followed it for several days, and finally came up with them in a bend of the Trinity river, about sixty miles below where Fort Worth now stands. Here the Indians had a village with growing corn, pumpkins and water melons. The settlers furiously charged in among them, and a short, but bloody fight ensued. The Indians soon gave way and fled through the bottoms, leaving fourteen of their number dead on the ground. ' But the settlers did not come out unscathed ; the brave and fearless Denton was killed at the first onset, and Lieutenant Stout w^as wounded. The village was set on fire, the dead Captain 'buried, and the pioneers returned to their homes, having broken up one of the strongholds of the hostiles.




  John D. Pickens, a resident of Guadalupe County, was in this fight, and furnished me the items in regard to it. He was then but fourteen years old. He saw Captain Denton when he fell from his horse.




  About this time the Indians were committing depredations among the settlers of Gonzales County. Horses were stolen, cattle killed, and children carried into captivity.




  In July, 1841, Hardin Turner, Callahan, and another man, whose name I cannot learn, went out horse hunting near Peach Creek, about twelve miles east of Gonzales. They camped out, and were up early next morning hunting for their horses, while it was cool, and ascended a ridge for the purpose of looking over into the valley to see if they could discover any horses, but instead saw a band of about fifteen Indians. The odds were too much against them to think of making a stand, unless compelled to, and they instantly turned their horses and fled, closely pursued by the Indians, who were on good horses. Turner and Callahan made for a dense thicket, some distance off, keeping close together in this race for life. The other man, being mounted on a splendid horse, left his companions, and was soon out of sight, carrying off a double-barreled shot gun belonging to Callahan, who had handed it to him a few minutes before to shoot a turkey.




  The Indians, being well mounted, gained on them at every jump, at the same time uttering loud and exultant yells, as they felt confident of their victims; and when the two white men neared the thicket, were close upon their heels. Turner shouted to Callahan to leave his horse and run into the thicket, when he saw him about to pass around it, at the same time leaping from his horse and plunging in himself. The Indians were so near one of them threw his lance at Turner, striking him between the shoulders, near the left shoulder blade, but he still continued to tear his way through the brush, dragging the lance after him, until it pulled out. Being weak from loss of blood and exertion, he lay down at the base of a large pecan tree, with his rifle beside him, ready to shoot the first Indian who found him.




  Callahan was overtaken and killed near the thicket, having failed to heed the warning cry of Turner. After stripping and mutilating his body, and taking off his scalp, they hung him up in a tree, and danced and sang around it, one of them every now and then saying: "Yankee Doodle," "Yankee Doodle." Turner could see most of this performance from where he lay, thinking it would be his time next, but determined to sell his life dearly as possible, and get one Indian at least.' After getting through with their pow-wow around the dead body of his companion, the Indians prowled around the thicket, in search of Turner, but were afraid to enter, as they knew the white man carried his rifle with him, and it would be certain death to the foremost Indian, and none were willing to sacrifice himself. Once a lot of them charged through on their horses, almost running over him, but went in such a hurry they did not look much.




  The Indians finally all left but one, a hideous, old, crooked-mouth fellow, who still continued the search for some time longer. Turner was sorely tempted to shoot this old demon, but fearing the report of his gun would bring the others back, he refrained from doing so until the old Indian should discover him, and then he calculated to kill him. The Indian would stoop down and peer into the thicket, and sometimes Turner was almost certain the Indian saw him, and once started to raise his gun to fire, but the Indian saved his handsome face from being spoiled by a bullet, by turning off and looking somewhere else.




  Turner's shirt was stained with green fodder, which he had been pulling, and so nearly resembled the green foliage beneath which he lay was one reason, I suppose, why the Indians failed to see him.




  The old Indian finally gave up the search and left, to overtake his companions. Turner lay where he was until late in the evening and then crawled out from his hiding-place and looked around. His horse, of course, was gone. The body of Callahan was still dangling in the tree, and presented a horrible sight as it swayed to and fro in the breeze. Faint and weary, he then made his way to a small pool of water near by, and pulling off one of his shoes, washed the blood out of it, which had run down from his wound, and drank out of it. He was so weak from loss of blood he was afraid to lie down and drink from the pool, fearing he would not be able to rise again. He drank several times before attempting to leave the place, but after his burning thirst was quenched, he felt stronger, and set out for the nearest house, which was three miles nearer then his own, and arrived there before midnight. The family were still up, for they had heard the news from the man who escaped. He said that Turner and Callahan were both killed, and when Turner stepped in with his white haggard face and bloody garments, the lady of the house fell fainting to the floor. A runner was then sent to inform his parents that he was there, for he was an unmarried man and lived with them. They soon came, and he was carried home, but it was sometime before he recovered from that terrible lance thrust. The body of Callahan was brought in the next morning after he was killed.




  At this time the settlements had extended a considerable distance up the Colorado, Brazos, Guadalupe, San Marcos and other streams, the more adventurous pioneers still pushing further west, trailing and fighting Indians as they went, and being killed and scalped by them in return. Hundreds of miles of beautiful country still lay ahead of them, and only inhabited by the buffalo, deer, antelope, etc., and the red man.




  After the annexation of Texas to the United States, in 1845, counties were rapidly laid off and organized: several counties, however, were organized and named prior to that period, for judicial and other purposes. Among the number was Fannin, named in honor of the brave Col. Fannin, who was, with his command, brutally murdered by the Mexicans after he had surrendered, at Goliad, in 1836.




  The county was organized in 1838, but owing to the hostilities of the Indians, few settlers came into it until about 1842. As I am not attempting to write a history of Texas, but the battles and adventures of pioneers, I will have to make extracts from other works to make it complete, as I was unable to obtain all the information I wanted otherwise. Therefore, I take the following sketches from the American Sketch Book, published at Austin, in 1880 by Mrs. Bella French Swisher.




  "Among those who emigrated in 1842 was Phillip Smith and family, a brother-in-law to Judge Inglish, first settled at the place where Fort Inglish was afterwards built. Smith did not fear the danger incident to settling, and living on the frontier: but came fixed up with all the regalia of high life, fine wagons and carriages and ten or twelve extra fine horses. He did not look at the possibility of his fine stock being taken from him in a few months of time: he did not know that an Indian would risk his life, lose his reputation and character as an honest man for the value of a horse. In 1841 Smith had his confidence shaken by the loss of nearly all his horses. Indians captured them during the night. His loss was discovered early in the morning, and eight or ten men started in pursuit. The watchword was, quick step and sharp lookout tor Indians. The Indians must be captured and horses retaken at all hazards.




  “The south boundary line of the county, not having as yet been run. Col. Montague, the county surveyor, had sent his deputy surveyor, John B. Black, with a guard of eight or ten men, regular soldiers, to do the work.




  "Those in pursuit discovered, a short distance ahead, on Pilot Knob, a smoke arising from camp fires on the Indian trail. Now, the Indians must be killed and scalped and horses rescued in quick time for fear of being discovered. The company dismounted, tied their horses and the priming of guns examined. Every man being his own commander, it was not necessary to give orders. All, from the color of the face, would pass for white men: no stiff joints, but trembling with eagerness for battle or something else. The pursuers arose, and fired: with a shout and a yell, the camp was charged upon. Three Indians were seen to fall at the first fire, and the others ran for life. When the camp was reached, there lay two dead white men and three badly wounded, they being the men sent out with John B. Black to guard when running the county line, who unfortunately had camped a few hour before upon the trail of the pursued Indians. The dead were buried as best they could : the wounded brought back and cared for, and the search for the culprits abandoned."




  In 1838 the land system was organized in the Republic of Texas. Land certificates were issued to citizens, also immigrants under the donation laws. When individuals having obtained certificates, went to locating their claims, litigation resulted, which was settled by a justice of the peace and twelve jurymen. A case of this kind came up in what was then called Washita Bend, but now Preston, between Col. Holland Coffee and Capt. John Hart, both parties contending for preference of location. A jury was summoned from the Bois d'Arc neighborhood, where Bonham now stands, who went to the Bend to try the case at issue. As they were returning home, they met a Mexican, whose name was Andrew Penaro. He said he had been trading with the wild Indians. He was riding on an extra fine Mexican mule, with superior Mexican saddle, equipped fantastically, a fine brace of holster pistols attached to the saddle, a fine double-barreled shot gun in his hand. He was dressed like a prince, from head to foot; a fine gold watch and plenty of cash in his pockets. Suspecting he had been guilty of a foul deed, he was questioned closely. He stated, that ten days before, he had met with a Mexican officer with the Indians, making presents and inducing them to war with the whites, and that he decoyed him from camp and killed him. Suspecting this statement to be false, he was questioned closely, and promises made if he would tell the truth he should go unpunished, whereupon he confessed that he had engaged as pilot to a Mexican Colonel and decoyed him in a wrong direction and shot him in the back, when he had dismounted to arrange his saddle girths. He then led them to the spot where the deed had been done. There lay the body of the Mexican Colonel, dead, bereft of clothing-, robbed by his Mexican brother. In hunting around, Mr. Simpson found his hat with a bullet hole through the band. It had three rows of gold braid around it. He carried the hat home; his wife mended it, and he had the honor of wearing the officer's hat. Had not promises been sacred things with them, Andrew Penaro would have pulled hemp tb pay for his treachery.
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  VOLUNTEERS-THE FALSE ALARM-CAPTAIN HART SCALPING INDIANS-JOHN F. HUNTER, THE OLD TEXAS RANGER-MISS HUNTER CARRIED INTO CAPTIVITY-FIGHT WITH INDIANS NEAR RED RIVER-LOCATION OF FANNIN COUNTY.




  In 1838 the first volunteer companies for the defense of Fannin County were raised and organized by Captain Robert Sloan and N. L. Journey. These two companies consisted of forty men each. The first night at camp the captain's charger and two other horses were stolen. The next night the two companies met and camped ready for an early start for the Indian village on the west fork of the Trinity river. Guards were stationed around the encampment for the night, and each mess went to spinning yarns. In the midst of this amusement one of the guards fired his gun. In an instant the pickets fled for camp ; men ran for their guns. Some guns were misplaced : shot pouches and ammunition missing. All was hurry and confusion. The captain dispatched to learn the cause of alarmâ€”no guard at his post. One of the guards dashed into camp, s; 'ing he had seen and shot an Indian trying to steal horses. His heart beat so hard he declared it was the sound of Indians' feet flying from the fire of his gun.




  The officer returned and made his report, and stated that he had found no dead or wounded Indian, but supposed he had found an Indian's blanket, but upon examination it proved to be the paunch of the beef slaughtered that day for rations. No more yarns that night. Next morning march was taken for the Indian village. They marched three days and camped for the last night until the Indian village should be desolated by the heroes of Fannin County. Next morning a council of war w^as held. Scouts were sent out to reconnoiter the village. Scouts returned, reporting the village close at hand. Now, their bravery must be tried, or they must run.




  Three hundred Indian warriors, fortified in their huts to defend themselves, squaws and children, and only ninetv-nine to attack and enter into deadly conflict with them. Many a pale face was to be seen in the ranks.




  But, lo! when they got to the scene of action only a small camp of Indians were there. The Indians were soon dispatched, and their scalps taken by Captain John Hart. One white man was wounded, and one horse killed. After the battle, one wounded Indian lay concealed in the grass, with his tomahawk in hand. A man by the name of Pangborn, usually called ^'Brandy," from his long and intimate acquaintance with that beverage, was in search of the Indian, and came upon him so closely that he could not shoot. The Indian arose, with tomahawk in hand, striking at Pangborn's head. The latter wheeled and ran, shouting for help at every jump. One gun was fired from our ranks; the Indian fell, and Captain Hart was on him in an instant, taking his scalp. This fight took place at Bird's Fort, in Tarrant County. Thus ended the scouting till a more formidable force was raised, which was done that winter, under the command of General John H. Dyer, of Red River County.




  Mr. John F. Hunter, of Rosston, Cook County, says that he settled in Fannin County in 1S38 ; that he has been ranging in northwest Texas for forty-one years.




  In 1843 the Indians made a raid in Fannin County, murdered his mother, captured his sister, killed his cousin, seven years old, a negro woman, and robbed the house of its contents. The prisoner, Lovicia, was carried to the Keechi mountains, in western Texas, and kept forty-six days. She was purchased by Delaware Frank, who paid the ransom sum of $750. He brought her safely to the settlements.




  Mr. Hunter then, clad in leather pants and hunting shirt, buckled on his moccasins, shouldered his old flintlock rifle, and took the war path, which he tramped for thirteen years. He formed one of the seventy-two, under Tarrant's command, that drove the thousand warriors from their village on Village creek. Mr. Hunter had many a hard chase after Indians. He passed through where Pilot Point is now situated in 1841, and says that the summit of the great hill, which then loomed up and stood out in bold relief against the western horizon, piloting the pioneer fathers in their exploits against the red men, was covered with buffalo trails. Now it is graced with the beautiful little city of Pilot Point, and he is here to-day to behold the change of thirty-eight years.




  In the winter and spring of 1839-40 the citizens of Fort Inglish, Warren and Preston moved home from the forts, with the determination to defend themselves and property against the ravages of the Indians, the efforts of the government having proved ineffectual in giving protection to its subjects on account of a lack of men and resources adequate for the purpose. The president was opposed to a war policy, thus favoring pacific and treaty measures instructed the officers and requested the citizens to use their influence in collecting the detached tribes of Indians then over the republic, in order that treaties might be made with them, and reservations of land granted them for settlements.




  Dr. D. Rowlett, congressman for this district, had collected a small tribe of Coushattas at his place on Red river, and had the care of them, until they could be provided for by the government. The depredations of this tribe became frequent in the neighborhood, and resisted in the terrible conflict with the Duggan family, (the particulars of which the writer has not been able to get). After this battle, the Indians left Dr. Rowlett's and fled to the Indian Territory, north of Red river. The Texans (pronounced Texian), being greatly incensed at the course practiced by them while living in Texas, determined they should not remain so near them. Captain Joseph Sowell, with ten or twelve men, crossed the river at night, ascertained where they were camped, stole upon them, and fired into their wigwams, killing ten or twelve of their number. This matter was kept secret for some time, the act being a violation of the international law with the United States Government.




  The Indians retaliated by charging on Captain Sowell's posse shortly after. The District Court of Fannin County was to commence in 1841, at Warren, then the county seat, on a Monday morning. Owing to the sparse and scattered settlements of the citizens, and the long distances those summoned to witness and jurymen had to travel, many went on Sunday evening to be in readiness Monday morning.




  Their stopping place was at the tavern kept by Captain Sowell and J. S. Scott. During the night, when the men were busily engaged in spinning yarns, and drinking whisky, the Coushattas made their raid upon the stable of the tavern, wherein were placed the horses of the guests, and a fine charger, owned by Captain Sowell. They secured the stallion, one of them saddled and mounted him, preparatory to driving the other horses from the stable, while others laid down in the corner of the fence or secreted themselves near the bars. The neighing of the horses alarmed the men, who rushed from the house in the wildest excitement, most of them without their guns or pistols. Sowell and Scott ran to the gap, laid down by the Indians. Sowell, being in front, discharged his pistol without effect, when they retorted with a volley of arrows. One passed through his stomach, another through his back. He fell at the Indians' feet, called to Scott to shoot the Indian, and expired without a groan. Scott killed one Indian; the rest fled precipitately in every direction. They collected again, and arranged a trap for those whites who should pursue them, but no other encounter took place.




  After the murder of Captain Sowell, the citizens were greatly excited on account of the attack. District Court met at Warren, and was organized for business, and had not proceeded far with the cases on docket, when a scout came dashing into town with the intelligence that a large trail of Indians was discovered, going in the direction of Fort Inglish. The judge immediately adjourned the court, and all started for their homes except two or three, Mr. Simpson and Major Bird, after whom the fort was named, among the number, who waited until night fall, this being the safest mode of travel to avoid Indians. They traveled in the most profound silence for some time, till Major Bird, who was under the influence of liquor, lost his hat. While stopping to look for it, the Major, very much trammeled by his befuddled condition, a squad of Indians ran upon them and came within fifteen or twenty paces of them, when Mr. Simpson fired his shot gun at them and at the same time shouted "charge, charge!" This gave the impression that a large company was under his command, and the effect was magical among the Indians; they scattered in every direction.




  At this time depredations became so numerous that houses were attacked in daylight, and many murders committed. Captain John Youree and Daniel Davis were attacked, the latter killed.




  The County of Fannin is located in the north central portion of the State, the Red river, forming its northern boundary, being the dividing line between the Indian Territory and the State of Texas.
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  INDIAN TROUBLES IN FAYETTE COUNTY-WACO BROWN-CHILDREN CARRIED INTO CAPTIVITY-INDIAN FIGHT ON ROSS CREEK-SETTLEMENT ON THE BRAZOS- DENTON COUNTY-INDIAN RAIDS-FORT PARKER TAKEN BY INDIANS-CAPTIVITY OF MRS. PLUMMER.




  The County of Fayette was organized in 1837. but settlements were commenced some time before.




  In 1831, the Buckners, A. C. and Oliver, settled on the creek that bears their name. In 1823, the Castlemans settled on the western bank of the river (Colorado), and Stephen F. Austin for a time made Fayette County his home. Among other settlers of the county, were Col. John Moore, Jesse Burnham, Andrew Rabb, J. J. Ross, James Tombleson. John Cryer, S. A. Anderson, C. Cummings. James Lester, Redden Andrews, and John Rabb.




  In 1833-34 came John E. Lewis, Breedings, Joel Robinson, J. G. Robinson, Walter Robinson, John W. Dancy. Ed Manton, Henry Manton, M. Hill and I. H. Hill. The Indians, as usual, commenced depredating on the whites as soon as they began to form a settlement. John Duff, or Waco Brown, was captured by the Waco Indians in August, 1825, and by them kept for fifteen months, in their favorite region, of which the present town-site of Waco was one of the chief villages. He by his stay among the Indians, acquired a vast amount of information about the Waco and other tribes which proved to be of great value to General Austin and the early settlers. It was thought by his wife and Captain Henry S. Brown (his brother) that he had been killed by the Indians. But in 1826 he made his escape from a war party of seventeen Wacos on Cummings' creek, in this county, the party having come down to kill and rob the settlers. They brought him with them, as he had promised to assist them in stealing horses. He made his escape at night, while they were all asleep, and hastened to San Felipe, on the Brazos, where he found his brother, H. vS. Brown, who had just returned from Mexico, having a well-armed party with him.




  With these and some volunteer citizens. Captain Brown hastened in search of the Indians, completely surprised them at daylight on the following morning, and killed all but one. J. D. Brown was afterwards known as Waco Brown.




  In February, 1837, as J. G. Robinson and his brother Walter were on their way to see a gentleman on business, they were both killed by Indians, on Cummings' creek. The same day Mr. and Mrs. Gocher were killed by Indians, on Rabb's creek, and three of their children carried into captivity, one girl and two boys. They were afterwards redeemed by Mr. Spalding, who married the young lady.




  During the "Runaway" in 1836, the Indians captured a young German girl. At this time the Indians kept their captives for trade; they could be purchased by relatives or friends. A German purchased this young lady, and made her his wife.




  In 1828 or '29, says Mr. James. T. Ross, a party of Indians were camped on Ross's creek. They made their camp in the bed of the creek, that they might be protected by the cliffs from the chilling winds. It was thought by the old settlers that they were there on a stealing expedition until they killed a Mexican and scalped him. Mr. James J. Ross, J. Tombleson, John Cryer, S. A. Anderson and several others, whose names are forgotten, got together and attacked their camp. When they reached the camp some were lying down and others were dancing around with their scalps, and some were parching corn. The number of Indians were sixteen ; eight of them were killed, and an attempt was made to burn them, but only the skin was burned off, and the bones were left to bleach in the bed of the creek. Seven were wounded, but succeeded in making their escape, and were never heard from afterwards. It was thought they died ere they reached their tribe. Mr. Pennington was allowed to trade with this tribe of Indians, and while there on one of his trading expeditions, one of these Indians returned to the tribe, and it was always supposed that he was the only one left to tell the story.




  In 1833 the Indians were very bad about killing and stealing. About this time Tom Alley was out hunting horses, and unexpectedly came on a camp of these Indians. As soon as he was discovered by them, they immediately commenced shooting at him, and he was badly wounded. He put spurs to his horse and made his escape, and was fortunate enough to reach home.




  The next day several of his friends trailed them towards the head of Cummings' creek, and there the Indians burned the grass, and the pursuers lost the trail.




  Those of my readers who have never seen a new country can hardly conceive of its wild beauty and grandeur as it appeared to the first settlers of this country.




  The following is an extract from a sketch of Fort Bend County, which is as near as pen can describe it:




  "Texas, and its native loveliness, we have been told, had impressed other discoverers and pioneers long ere Austin visited the country. Yet their footprints in the vast wilderness were effaced as fast as made, and the legendary relations we have heard, and the slight vis^ible remains made impressions on the early settlers, as dim traditions, like the poetry of the Scottish Border, which relates incidents verified by latter chronicles.




  "The first settlers found this portion of Texas a new country, rich in primeval beauty, and so many of the old Texans speak of the emotion of wonder aroused on their first view of this strange wild beauty of the land; how the undulating formation impressed them; how the exuberance of verdure, and the Vide flower germed prairies, and clear running streams, fringed with trees to the water's edge, excited their love of the beautiful, and this portion of Texas was thought by them to be a land of plenty and a paradise of beauty."




  In 1831, (says J. J. Sullivan), William Little with others of the "old three hundred," had reached the city of New Orleans on their way to Texas as colonists. At this point William Little received orders from Stephen F. Austin to take with him as many families as would be sufficient to establish a small settlement, and sail with them to the mouth of the Brazos river; from there to proceed up that stream, until he should find a desirable situation, and then land there and make a settlement. In obedience to this order. Little and his party ascended the river until they had reached the spot where Richmond now stands. From the tide to this point, on each side of the river nothing but low banks, dense forests, cane-brakes and the richest body of land, perhaps in the world, was to be seen. But here the eyes and the hearts of the whole party were gladdened by finding the banks much higher than anywhere below, whilst on the west the prairie came full up to the river, spreading out as far as the eye could reach, westward, one vast and unbroken sea of rich waving grass, interspersed with an endless variety of most beautiful and fragrant flowers.




  With what alacrity and gladness did this little party of pioneers go ashore, just at the foot of the large bend in the river, which circles for some ten or twelve miles around, just above the present town of Richmond.




  Soon the work of preparation of their future homes commenced. Among the first and most important things to be done, was the building of a small fort for the protection of the pioneers against the savage tribes of Indians then numerous on the Brazos. This was soon accomplished, and before long this great bend in the river came to be called "Fort Bend," and hence the county of Fort Bend came by its name.




  The first settlements in what is now known as Denton County, was on Hickory and Prairie creeks, in 1842, up to 1845, by the Wagners, Prices, Clarys, Kings, and others. In June, 1S45, there were in all seventeen families. In the latter part of 1845 came Murphy, the Harmosons, Halfords, Weldors, Frenches and others, and in the early part of '46 the Carters, S. A. Venters and the Yochonis settled on Clear creek and the Stricklins on Isle De Bois.




  Denton County was organized in July, 1846. The Indians were numerous and hostile, and often bloody encounters took place between them and the pioneers. In 1868 a party of Indians, supposed to be about twenty strong, made a raid into W^ise and Denton Counties. Crossing Denton creek near the overland road and meeting no opposition, the red skin marauders at twelve o'clock, one night, dashed into the town of Denton, unperceived, and drove out about thirty horses. The next morning horses were missed from lots and pastures.




  Indian trails were discovered in the fields and every circumstance attested that their very doors had been visited by the savages. Scouts were sent out in several directions, when it was discoverd that the Indians had gone out by the Gainesville road to the crossing on Clear creek, gathering all the horses on the route.




  No attempt had been made by them to kill, scalp, or capture any of the citizens whose houses they had passed. When crossing Clear creek, they attempted to capture two of Mr. Rol's little boys who happened to be some distance from the house. Their main object seemed to be to get as many horses as possible. They gathered all the horses on the way, until the drove amounted to some fifty or sixty, then left the settlements beyond Clear creek, and started out in the direction of Cook County. Captain R. H. Hopkins, Stephenson Curley, and three other men, whose ranches on Clear creek were swept of a good deal of valuable stock, mounted fleet horses and went out in pursuit. Another force of ten men also joined in the chase farther in the rear, not being able to keep pace with the Indians, all of whom were now mounted upon fresh horses. The chase continued for many miles over the prairie, the party keeping in sight of the Indians all the time until Hopkins' squad made a flank movement, for the purpose of getting re-enforcements from some ranches on the right. This move so confused the Indians, who thought this was some stratagem, that they turned into the brakes and briers on Clear creek, where they were charged upon by Hopkins and his men, and nearly all the stolen horses recaptured. The Indians escaped with the horses they were riding and went off in the direction of Montague County.




  Soon after this raid a runner hastened to town and reported Indians in force, between the residence of Thomas Eagan and that of George McCormick, live miles from the town of Denton, gathering horses. Some twenty-five of the citizens immediately armed themselves as best they could, mounted horses and started out in pursuit. About ten miles from town the scouts observed a couple of Indians on Hickory creek, driving some fifteen horses to the main herd, when they raised the yell and charged, recapturing the horses. Mr. Tarleton Bull was in the lead and fired first at close range, the ball taking effect near the spine, when the Indian turned and fired upon Mr. Bull but missed his aim. He then raised his bow, but was pierced with three more balls before he could use it. Mr. Bull secured his pony, and Mr. E. Allen returned with his gun, bow and quiver. The other Indian escaped. The scouts then pushed on closely after the main body of the savages up North Hickory, but did not come up with them until they halted at Chism ranch. Here at the sound of their bugle the Indians formed in line of battle. A dog, belonging to one of the scouting party, hearing the sound of the bugle, ran over to the Indians, and was instantly killed. The force of the scouting party by this time had increased to forty-three men ; the number of savages was estimated at one hundred and fifty.




  Firing commenced on both sides, when the Indians, seeing the comparative smallness of the squad, raised the war whoop, and charged. The men retreated in disorder and formed on the bank of a little prairie creek. In the retreat Mr. Severe Fortenberry was killed, scalped, stripped of his clothes, and disfigured in too barbarous a manner to relate. Mr William Eaves received a slight wound, and Mr. George McCormick's horse was shot and killed under him, but he succeeded in making




  his escape across the creek. The Indians were successful in the fight, and succeeded in getting away with two or three hundred head of horses.




  Early in the fall of 1835, a small colony of whites, known as Austin Colony (now Grimes County), arrived and settled at a point about two and a half miles north of the present county seat. The following persons composed the colony: Silas M. Parker, John Parker, James Parker, L. T. M. Plummer, Benjamin Parker, Elisha Anglin and his son, Abraham, Samuel Frost and family, Seth H. Bates and son, Geo. E. Dwight, J. Nickson and the heroic Mrs. Plummer. The early outlook for this little band of brave and industrious people were first of the most pleasing and encouraging nature, indeed they were all happy upon the realization of long anticipated hopes for they were seeking, what apparently laid at their feet, rich and productive soil, broad and flourishing pasturage, good timber, excellent water, and abundant game ; but, alas ! these pleasing realizations were soon to be overclouded by the dark and frustrating clouds of adversity, warfare and death.




  The sad sequel of this little band has been verbally related to the author of this sketch (Maggie Abercrombie) by one of the old settlers, above mentioned, who is still alive, but too decrepid and and old to write. From his conversation is gathered the following data: The first evidence of trouble that appeared to the people was caused by a small party of settlers from Colorado, who, not being content to pursue their avocations peaceably and honestly, attempted to infringe upon the rights of a tribe of Tehaucano Indians, who hud a small village upon the hills of the same name (Tehaucano), situated in the northern part of the county. These Colorado settlers repeatedly molested and annoyed the Indians by attempting to steal their horses. The Indians had manifested a civil disposition until these annoyances provoked their resentment and revenge, and in the instances alluded to, they repulsed the white Colorado settlers, killing Williams, the leader, and wounding Huldaman, a small boy. From this unfortunate event, the Indians exhibited no little degree of malice and revenge, and would frequently glide into the white settlements at midnight and steal their stock and cattle. They appeared perfectly defiant in their village, which stands on one of the highest hills in central Texas, and overlooks the broad green prairies for miles and miles around. They seemed to believe these hills, like Caesar, did the hills of Rome, a formidable fortification against any and all intrusion, and would often in daytime commit fearful crimes, and immediately repair to their quarters on the hills.




  No sooner had the settlers begun to take the preliminary steps for shelter and comfort, than did the alarming indications of molestation become more manifest, and the propriety of defense manifest itself. They therefor soon erected that rude fortification known to the darker pages of Texas history as "Fort Parker," and which shall ever live in the hearts of the countrymen, as does the recollections of San Jacinto and the Alamo. Of these trials, scenes and dangers one of the old survivors has written as follows :




  "After our log fort had been erected, we pursued our avocations with better satisfaction than before, and not until May, the succeeding year, did we suffer any very great depredations from the Indians. During this month the fearful and cowardly massacre of Fort Parker was enacted. It was no day for the awful deeds committed, for nature had ushered into light a May-day as gentle and as serene as the soft light of the dawning sun that stole carelessly over our sleeping farms. At an early hour, and while a few of our more delicate ones were still engaged in slumber, we noticed upon an eminent point on the prairie, not exceeding four hundred yards from the fort, a body of restless Indians.




  " This unexpected spectacle created the usual result among the women and children, and while the men were naturally surprised they knew that discipline, composure and fortitude, were their imperative duty and safeguard. A white flag was conspiciously hoisted by the Indians as an indication of peace. Very soon afrerwards, a warrior from their camp approached the fort and in a civil manner offered to make a treaty. To this Captain Benjamin Parker, commander of the fort, responded. After a short inteiview he returned and notified the inmates that he believed the Indians intended to fight. He, however, returned to the hostile camp, which was no sooner reached, than he was a mangled corpse, literally chopped into pieces by the bloodthirsty demons. They immediately began their hideous war-whoop, and with wild, infuriated yells, charged upon the fort. Fortunately, several of the inmates had left the stockade by this time, while others were endeavoring to escape. Mrs. Nixon, a brave little woman, heroically made her way through an exposed field, where she notified her father, husband and brother, of the imminent danger that threatened them.




  " Mr. John Parker and wife, with Mrs. Kellogg, had gotten a mile or more away when they were overtaken, the old man killed and scalped, his wife speared and left for dead, and Mrs Kellogg made captive. Samuel M. Frost and his son were brutall}' killed, also Silas M. Parker. Mrs. Plummer in trying to escape by flight, was knocked down by a huge Indian, and with her child, seventeen months old, made prisoners. Cynthia Ann and John, two children of Silas Parker, were also captured. The survivors met a few days afterwards, when it was discovered that only eighteen of the original number of their party were present.




  "The alarm spread through the settlements like wild fire, and a small body of men soon repaired to the fort, but seeing no line of defense against the great number of Indians which approximated near eight hundred, they, after close concealment in ambush, retreated to their respective homes, and in a short time all moved away to Fort Houston, about three miles distant from the present city of Palestine.




   




  "The wounded wife of John Parker, covered with blood and scarcely able to walk, was found after night by a party of three or four, by whom she was conveyed to the Fort Houston settlement. She did not survive a great while. Soon afterwards a party repaired to Fort Parker and buried the remains of the dead. Mrs. Kellogg was, a few months afterwards, purchased by General Sam Houston from some friendly Delaware Indians, who held her at one hundred and fifty dollars ransom mrs. Plummer was also purchased from her captors by Colonel Donnahue, and after weeks of suffering and trial, reached Santa Fe. She was a captive over two years, and had many thrilling adventures."




  Mr. R. F. Mattison writes of Mrs. Plummer's adventures and of "old Fort Parker," as follows.




  "Mrs. Plummer, whose captivity and sufferings among the Comanche Indians we are now about to relate, was the daughter of Rev. James W. Parker, the captain of a small company of rangers, and the commander of Fort Parker. When the fort fell into the hands of the Indians, by means of a ruse to which they resorted, she attempted to escape, carrying in her arms her little son, James Pratt, only eighteen months old. Nothing could give us a more exalted estimation of female courage and fortitude, than the act of this frail, delicate little woman, who was willing to risk her life that she might save her infant child; while with the heartrending screams of friends were mingled with the terrible yells of the brutal and savage foe, she ventured out alone, risking ail to save her dear one; with no shield, no protection, save the burning eye; of God and the feeble prayers that were ascending to Him. With the infant pressed close to her bosom, she rushes across the field in the direction of adjoining timber. She strains every nerve and speeds onward, urged only by fear and affection.




  "It was not, however, in the providence of God, that Mrs. Plummer and her child should meet death heroically or escape. A huge, savage warrior, painted and begrimmed with dust and blood, discovers and pursues her with a savage yell of triumph. Though fear lent swiftness to her feet, she is not fleet enough to leave him behind. He overtakes her, clutches a hoe left in the field, fells her to the ground and seizing her by the hair of the head, drags her, still clinging to her boy, though stunned and unconcious, past the fort and into presence of the main body of Indians. She awakes to consciousness only to see her child torn from her bosom and hear the groans and cries of her wounded and dying friends.




  Her anxiety was increased and her suspense rendered almost intolerable by seeing the dead and mutilated body of her uncle, Benjamin Parker, the reeking scalp of the aged grandfather, Rev. John Parker, and many other signs of the butchery now going on in and near the fort, where all was hushed in the silence of death, except the fiendish yells of triumph from the treacherous Indians. It was not till then she was made aware of her captivity. Mrs. Plummer was not allowed to speak to her relations, not even to her own little boy, Pratt. She and the rest were beaten with clubs by the Indian braves and lashed with rawhide thongs by the squaws.




  “After leaving the fort the two tribes, Comanches and Kiowas, remained and traveled together until midnight. They halted on an open prairie, staked out their horses, placed their pickets, and pitched their camp. Bringing all their prisoners together for the first time, they tied their hands behind them with rawhide thongs so tightly as to cut the flesh, tied their feet close together, and threw them upon their faces. Then the braves gathered around with their yet bloody dripping scalps, commenced their usual war dance. They danced, screamed, yelled, stamping upon their prisoners, beating them with bows until their own blood came near strangling them.




  "The remainder of the night these frail women suffered and had to listen to the cries and groans of three tender children. Add to this heart-sickening scene, one more heartless and cruel still. The infant of Mrs. Plummer, born during her captivity, and while only six weeks old, was torn madly from her bosom by six giant Indians, one of them clutched the little prattling innocent by the throat, and like a hungry beast with defenseless prey, he held it out in his iron grasp until all evidence of life seemed extinct. Mrs. Plummer's feeble efforts to save her child were utterly fruitless. They tossed it high in the air and repeatedly let it fall on rocks and frozen earth. Supposing the child dead they returned it to its mother but discovering traces of lingering life they again, by force, tore it angrily from her, tied plaited ropes around its neck, and threw its unprotected body into hedges of prickly pear. They would repeatedly pull it through these lacerating rushes with demoniac yells. Finally, they tied the rope attached to its neck to the pommel of a saddle and rode triumphantly around a circuit until it was not only dead but literally torn to shreds. All that remained of that once beautiful babe was then tossed into tlie lap of its poor distracted mother. This truly-drawn picture portrays some of the dark deeds of woe and strife that betel this little band."




  Mrs. Plummer also said that In one of her rambles, after she had been with the Indians some time, she discovered a cave in the mountains and, in company with an old squaw that guarded her, she explored it and found a large diamond, but when she was ransomed the Indians stole it from her and she was compelled to leave it. She said also here in these mountains she saw a bush which had thorns on it resembling fish hooks which the Indians used to catch fish with, and she herself has often caught trout with them in the little mountain streams.




  In the year 1838 another colony arrived near Fort Parker, with a view of locating, etc., but in this purpose they were disappointed, for the Indians had lost none of their troublesome and treacherous spirit, and in the year 1839 they were again compelled to flee the Indian annoyances, not, however, without having improved considerable land, built several log houses, and selected their town site, which was donated to them in a five hundred acre tract of land, by Mr. Herrin, who lived near Nacogdoches.




  Limestone County was organized permanently two years afterwards, 1846; that is two years after the return of some of the families, in 1844.
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  INDIAN RAIDS IN COLORADO COUNTY-LAY AND ALLEY KILLED-INDIAN RAIDS IN PARKER COUNTY-MRS. SHERMAN KILLED-TERRIBLE FIGHT BETWEEN RANGERS AND INDIANS AT THE HEAD OF THE TRINITY RIVER COW-BOYS FIGHT WITH INDIANS-BESIEGING THE CAVE.




  Settlements were commenced in Colorado County in 1822. The first was at the Atasca Sitta crossing of the Colorado, a little below the present town of Columbus. Among the early settlers were Leander Beeson, W. W. Dewees, Ross Alley, William Alley, Peter and John Tumbleson, Jesse Burnham, J. W. C. Wallace, Thomas Buens. In i831-'33 came F. Peters, Levi Bostick, William Hunt, John Matthews, Major Montgomery, David Cole, the Cooper's, and others. The tribe of Indians which gave the most trouble to the early settlers were the Carankaways, a fierce and warlike tribe. They are spoken of as being strongly built, and of tall stature, and over six feet in height.




  It is said that each warrior carried a bow exactly his own length, so powerful that few Americans could bend them, and with these they could shoot their arrows with unerring accuracy. From what can be learned it is highly probable that this tribe were cannibals, indeed, they were always spoken of and regarded as such by the early settlers, and the facts certainly seem strongly to indicate that such was the case.




  Colonel Dewees says:




  "In 1823, three of our young men had been down the Colorado river in a canoe to obtain corn. (This corn had been raised on the river. The manner in which the ground was prepared seems a little strange to the people of the present day. They first burned off the cane brakes, and then made holes in the ground with a hand-spike, where they planted the corn. The land being very rich, a large crop was raised in this manner.)




  "The Carankaway Indians had encamped at the mouth of Skull creek, in Colorado County. They saw the young men as they returned with their canoe-load of corn and lay in ambush for them. When they were sufficiently near, the Indians fired upon them and killed two, a Mr. Loy and Mr. Alley. Mr. Clark, the only one now remaining, leaped into the river and endeavored to save himself by swimming, but ere he reached the opposite bank he received some seven wounds from the arrows. He succeeded in escaping by crawling into a very heavy cane-brake. Here he lay all night, being unable to crawl, from the loss of blood. A young man by the name of Brotherton had left the settlement that same evening to go down the river to the mouth of Skull creek, on horseback. Not apprehending any danger from the Indians, he rode up the creek quite late in the evening, when he was surrounded by the savages. Thinking them to be friendly Indians living in the neighborhood he still feared not. He dismounted from his horse, when an Indian stepped up to him and took hold of his gun as though wishing to look at it. Just then he discovered them to be a tribe with whom he was not acquainted. He endeavored to retain possession of his gun, but the Indian succeeded in wresting it from him. The Indian attempted to shoot but the gun being double-triggered, he was unable to fire. He threw down the gun, and catching up his bow, shot Brotherton. The arrow entered his back, doing no material injury. Brotherton made his escape into the timber, and in a few hours succeeded in reaching the settlements. Fourteen men started in pursuit of the Indians, and at midnight arrived at the place where Brotherton had been wounded. Five of the number went to search out the encampment of the Indians.




  "After finding out the situation of their camp, says one of their number, we returned to our comrades. Here we remained until about half an hour before day, then proceeded to the Indian encampment as silently as possible. We crawled into a thicket about ten steps behind the camp, placing ourselves about four or five steps apart in a sort of half-circle, and completely cutting off their retreat from the swamp. The Indians were up and busily engaged apparently in getting breakfast. When the light was sufficient for us to see clearly we could not see anything of the Indians. We now commenced talking in order to draw them from their wigwams. In this we succeeded. They rushed out as if greatly alarmed. We fired upon them and killed nine. The rest attempted to escape but had no way to run except into the open prairie. We rushed upon them and killed all but two who had made their escape, though wounded, after the first fire. The number killed was nineteen.




  "The Indians were so greatly alarmed that they did not even attempt to fire on us. After the fatigue of the night and the toils of the morning, being quite hungry, we entered the wigwams, where we found plenty of provision. We made a hearty breakfast, then loaded our horses with such things as we found in the wigwams, and returned to the settlements."




  Parker County was created in 1855. Among those who settled Parker County who were here in 1856 and still reside in the county, are Thomas Allen, William Allen, Charles Baker, Joseph Baker, Samuel R. Barbee. W. C. Brashear, George W. Brock, Thomas Caldwell, Dr. H. G. Cantwell, Calvin Carr, William Cair, Joseph Carroll, Loving Clifton, Jeremiah Cockburn, J. P. Cole, Wilson Copeland, Isam Cranfield, William Cuthbert, Solomon Deroche, W^illiam Dixon, Thomas Derrett, Rev. Reuben A. Eddleman, J. C. Edwards, Jesse Ellison, M. S. Emberlin, and Mrs. Ensy.




  In December, 1859, two families named Brown and Sherman, lived respectively eleven and sixteen miles from the county seat at Weatherford. They were farmers, highly respected and industrious. John Brown was about half a mile from his dwelling attending to his horses when five of the national assassins surrounded, killed and scalped him, and took eighteen horses from his farm. They then rode to Mr. Thompson's farm, two miles distant and stole seven horses from him, and thence to Mrs. Sherman's residence, near the Palo Pinto line. The family, comprising six persons, were at dinner. The demons numbered nearly fifty. Six of them galloped into the yard, alighted from their horses, entered the house, and cordially took each member by the hand as if all had been on terms of intimacy. Without much ceremony the Indians told them to “vamose, vamose, no hurt, vamose." They did so, Mrs. Sherman, her husband and the four children, without the slightest resistance, as they had been assured that no danger should befall them. It was a very cold and rainy day and the exiles paced along the highway rapidly. They reached a point half a mile from the premises, joyful over their escape from a horrible death, when the brutes overtook them and captured Mrs. Sherman. The family begged for life. The monsters said they wanted ''squaw," and suiting the action to the word, tore the frantic woman from those she loved best-the mother from the husband and children-carried her back to the house, where she was maltreated in a manner most outrageous and inhuman. Her screams and shrieks seemed to afford enjoyment to the merciless wretches. They deliberately applied all sorts of tortures, scalped her, stripped all the clothing from her person, shot several arrows into her body, and compelled her to pass through an ordeal that few could endure. They left her for dead, but soon after their departure she managed to crawl into the house, where the husband managed to find her several hours afterwards. Mr. Sherman, as soon as he had placed the children out of danger, with others started in pursuit of those who had so fiendishly robbed him of his wife, and destroyed the happy family of a few hours previous. When discovered she was suffering from almost every conceivable indignity, and was beyond the slightest hope of recovery. At sight of Mr. Sherman the poor woman rallied sufficiently to relate all she had so bitterly experienced at the hands of the miscreants. Strange to say, she lived four days after the perpetration of the outrage. The children were brought back to the house the following day. and it is said the meeting with the dying woman was one of the most touching and heartrending ever witnessed in this or any other country.




  In June, of i860, General John.R. Baylor, who now resides in San Antonio, with his brother George W. Baylor, his two sons, Walker K. and John W. Baylor, and Wat. Reynolds, visited the Clear Fork of the Brazos, where the General formerly lived. While there hunting cattle these gentlemen were informed of the killing of Joseph Browning and the serious wounding of Frank Browning, by a large body of Comanches. They immediately went to the Browning ranch on the Clear Fork, near the mouth of Hubbard's creek, where they met other gentlemen who had been attracted to the spot by the murderous acts of the Indians.




  General Baylor, George W. Baylor, Elias Hale, Minn Wright, and John Dawson, started in pursuit of the demons, and on the fifth day, June 28th, overtook them on Paint creek, where a fierce contest ensued, during which Baylor and his friends killed thirteen of the Indians. On their return to Weatherford they brought the scalps of nine of them, a white woman the Indians had killed, several bows and arrows, darts, quivers, shields, tomahawks, and other paraphernalia of savage warfare.




  General Baylor took his scalps and other spoils of the victors to various cities and towns and soon after the people of the southwestern portion of the State sent flour, meal and all other kinds of provisions, clothing, boots and shoes, blankets, pistols, guns, etc., to Weatherford, for the support and protection of the people of the frontier. There was a universal cry ; it seemed to be the heartfelt desire of every person: "Exterminate the Indians," was the watchword, and it is not to be wondered that such was the case when we fully realize the destruction of property and human life. Up to the close of 1875, it is estimated that the Indians captured and destroyed property within a circle of one hundred miles of Parker county, worth at least $6,000,000, and killed and took into captivity nearly 400 persons.




  In 1837, the Indians were very numerous and hostile in Travis and adjoining counties, the Texas congress therefore authorized several persons to raise companies of rangers, to scour the country, and drive them out. Among the most noted rangers and Indian fighters of Texas, were Jack Hays, Henry and Ben McCulloch, Colonel Edward Burleson, Mathew Caldwell, James and Resin Bowie, Kit x\ckland, Tom Green, Ad Gillespie, Mike Chevalier, W. W. Wallace, ( Bigfoot ), Jim Hudson, vSam Walker, Robert Neighbors, Colonel John S. Ford. Major Van Dorn, John H. Moore, and a great many other gallant men, too numerous to mention. The following account of an expedition of the Texas rangers against the Indians, I get from “Morphis.”




  “On the 7th ofOctober, 1837, Captain L. Lynch and William Eastland, with sixty-eight men, started from Fort Prairie, five miles below where Austin now stands, on the look-out for Indians. On arriving at the sources of Pecan Bayou and the Clear Fork of the Brazos, a jealousy sprang up between the officers as to right of command, when they partly divided, and Lieutenants Van Benthuyson and Miles, with sixteen men, continued their Indian hunt, while Captain Lynch and Eastland, with the remainder returned to the fort. Van Benthuysen, Miles, and company, soon fell in with a party of Keechis, attacked and defeated them, killing two of their warriors.




  "Emboldened by success the little party pushed on to the head waters of the Trinity, near the " Knobs," called by the Indians " the stone houses." On the loth of November they were surrounded and attacked by about 180 or 200 savage warriors. The little band of eighteen men took position at the head of a ravine near a forest of trees, but where the grass was abundant, and their horses could eat while the fight lasted. The battle was desperate, and for hours the Texans kept off the Indians, killing their chief, among others, when they retired from the contest, elected another chief, and renewed the struggle. During the fight the rangers would pull off their hats, place them on the end of their ramrods, raise them above the walls of the ravine, and the Indians, mistaking the empty hats for hats with heads in. them, would fire at them, sometimes putting as many as half a dozen balls through one hat, when immediately the rangers would rise, take aim, and fire at the Indians.




  At last the wily savages resorted to the expedient of setting the prairie on fire, and almost in an instant vast volumes of flames and smoke forced the little band to leave their advantageous position and seek safety in the woodland near by, to arrive at which point they must necessarily charge through the Indiansas well as the flames. Having lost three men already, the remaining fifteen left their horses, baggage, provision and dead, and at the word of command, bounded off on their run for life.




  "In the charge through the Indians and run to the timber, a distance of about eighty yards, seven of the rangers were killed, including Lieutenant Miles, and three wounded. In the engagement ten of eighteen were killed and three of the survivors wounded, while the Indians, as they reported at a trading house, lost sixty-three killed and wounded. Night coming on soon after,, the rangers gained the woods, under the friendly protection of its dark mantle they retreated before the victorious savages, and after much suffering and many hardships, going for two or three days without any thing to eat, they finally struck the settlements, and found rest for their weary limbs, nourishing food for their empty stomachs, no doubt esteeming themselves fortunate in the possession of their scalps, fully appreciating the language of the poet,




  For he who fights and runs away May live to fight another day, But he who is in battle slain Can never rise and fight again."




  One of these eight rangers, J. O. Rice, verified the truth of this poetry, for in 1842, only five years afterwards he joined the ill-fated expedition under General Somerville, and was wounded and captured. The Somerville campaign wound up with the unfortunate expedition to Mier, under Cameron, who, with a part of Somerville’s force, after it was dissolved, crossed the Rio Grande and captured the town of Mier, and fortified himself in. some of the buildings. Cameron was soon besieged by a large force of Mexicans, and after several days of hard fighting, it was left to a vote whether they should surrender or not, and it resulted in a majority of the men favoring a surrender. The barricades were removed from the doors, and the men marched out and gave up their guns in the street. Captain Cameron was opposed to a surrender, and when they came out, grasped his rifle by the muzzle, and raising it aloft, dashed it to pieces against the stone sidewalk. After the Mexicans, had fully disarmed the Texans, they sentenced every fifteenth man to be shot. The lots were cast by the men drawing beans. To every fourteen white ones was placed one black one until they corresponded to the number of prisoners. The beans were then put in a hat and covered up, and the drawing commenced. Those drawing the black beans were placed off to one side by themselves and that evening led a short distance from the town and shot. The following are the names of those who drew the black beans: L. L. Cash, Pennsylvania; J. D. Cocke. Virginia; Robert Durham, Tennessee; William N. Eastland, Tennessee; Edward Este, New Jersey; Robert Harris, Mississippi; T. L. Jones, Kentucky; Patrick Mahan, Ireland ; James Ogden, Virginia; Charles Roberts, Tennessee ; William Rowan, Georgia; J. L. Shepherd. Alabama ; J. M. N. Thompson, Tennessee ; James
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